STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Eugene C. Griffin, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-000549

---

**RECEIVED**  
MAR 27 2017  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

KATHY LEONARD REVAN,

PETITIONER.

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

TARA DAWN SHURLING  
Attorney and Counselor at Law  
S. C. Bar No. 5099

3614 Landmark Drive, Suite A  
Columbia, S. C. 29204  
(803) 738-8622  
(803) 738-1600 (FAX)

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

## QUESTION PRESENTED

### I.

Did the lower court abuse its discretion in denying Petitioner's Motion for Immunity pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act<sup>1</sup> where the testimony and evidence adduced during the hearing on Petitioner's claim of immunity pursuant to §16-11-440 clearly established that she was entitled to immunity?

---

<sup>1</sup> Hereafter, the Act.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, Kathy Leonard Revan, was indicted by the Laurens County Grand Jury grand jury during the October, 2011 term for Murder (2011-GS-30-1625) and Possession of a Weapon During a Violent Crime (2011-GS-30-1626) and Attempted Murder (2011-GS-30-1627). She was represented in the trial court by Kim R. Varner, Esquire, and Evan Bramhall, Esquire. The Petitioner proceeded to trial by jury on January 13 - 17, 2014 before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. The State was represented at trial by Lance Sheek, Senior Assistant Solicitor, and Taylor Daniel, Assistant Solicitor. At the conclusion of this trial, the Petitioner was found guilty and was convicted of Voluntary Manslaughter (2011-GS-30-1625), Possession of a Weapon During a Violent Crime (2011-GS-30-1626), Attempted Murder (2011-GS-30-1627)."

Petitioner was sentenced on January 17, 2014 to twenty (20) years for Manslaughter/Voluntary Manslaughter (2011-GS-30-1625), five (5) years for Possession of a Weapon During a Violent Crime (2011-GS-30-1626), and twenty years for Attempted Murder (2011-GS-30-1627).

The Petitioner served and filed a timely Notice of Appeal from his judgments and sentences. The South Carolina Court of Appeals subsequently affirmed Petitioner's judgments and sentences. *The State v. Kathy Leonard Revan*, 2016-UP-486 (S.C. Ct. App. Dated November 23, 2016). Petitioner filed her Petition for Rehearing, pursuant to Rule 221(a), SCACR, on December 8, 2016. Said petition was denied by Order filed February 1, 2017. She now ask that the Writ be granted, that this Honorable Court dispense with further briefing and vacate her judgments and sentences. In the alternative, she asks that the Writ be granted and that she be afforded the opportunity to more fully brief the issues summarized herein.

## ARGUMENT AS ADVANCED IN THE S.C. COURT OF APPEALS

### I.

The lower court abused its discretion in denying Petitioner's Motion for Immunity pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act<sup>2</sup> where the testimony and evidence adduced during the hearing on Petitioner's claim of immunity pursuant to §16-11-440 clearly established that she was entitled to immunity.

### SUMMARY OF TESTIMONY, ARGUMENTS AND EVIDENCE PRESENTED DURING IMMUNITY HEARING HELD PURSUANT TO §16-11-440

#### ARGUMENT OF GROUNDS FOR MOTION

Prior to the commencement of Petitioner's General Sessions trial, she made a Motion for Immunity pursuant to the §16-11-440 of the Protection of Persons and Property Act. Petitioner argued that she was entitled to immunity under the act based upon, A) the presumption of reasonable fear and B) her right to stand her ground. In support of this position Trial Counsel argued the following.

- It was undisputed that the incident happened in Petitioner's home and that she had a reasonable fear of imminent peril. ROA p. 9, l. 24 - p. 10, l. 1.
- Defendant owns the home in Laurens County. It was her residence. At the time she was living with a gentleman names Lynn Straley<sup>3</sup>, who was deceased at the time of trial. Straley had terminal cancer. In June, 2011 his daughter, Tammy, and her female significant other, Shawn, showed up for a visit. They had been traveling around the country staying with various relatives and were ultimately headed to Costa Rica to raise ostriches. What was expected to be a two to three day visit turned into six weeks. Problems began to develop. ROA p. 10, l. 1-24.
- The deceased Shawn confronted Defendant about interfering with her relationship with Tammy; the daughter of Mr. Straley. ROA p. 11, ll. 3-6.
- Following a heated discussion, Tammy and Shawn were instructed to pack up their stuff and leave the residence. ROA p. 11, ll. 7-12.
- A physical altercation followed with Shawn initially hitting Defendant and the two ended up on the floor. Tammy was outside when the physical altercation was initiated by Shawn and the strike happened out of Straley's sight as well.

---

<sup>2</sup> Hereafter, the Act.

<sup>3</sup> Hereafter, Straley.

- When Straley's daughter, Tammy came back in the house, the two women, both of whom were about 20 years younger than Defendant, beat her badly. She had two bad black eyes and a broken nose and was bleeding. ROA p. 11, l. 18 - p. 12, l. 2.
- There was a significant weight difference between the Victim<sup>4</sup> and Petitioner; approximately 100 pounds difference. ROA p. 11, l. 24.
- Not only was Petitioner approximately twenty years younger and double teamed by Shawn and Tammy, she suffers from multiple medical problems. ROA p. 11, ll. 13-18.
- Straley stopped the fight. Defendant went to the bathroom to clean up because she was bleeding. Before coming back out of the bedroom she armed herself. She had been attacked and believed another beating was about to occur.
- Upon exiting her bedroom she found that Tammy and Shawn, who had been told to leave, were still there and Tammy was coming towards her. Petitioner fired a shot intended as a warning shot. It hit Shawn in the femoral artery and she died shortly thereafter.

#### TESTIMONY BELOW

**Petitioner relies upon the detailed summary of the testimony presented during her immunity hearing as presented in the Final Brief of Petitioner at pp. 7-24.**

#### DISCUSSION

The review of a claim of immunity under the Act requires a pre-trial determination applying a preponderance of the evidence standard. On appeal such rulings are reviewed under and abuse of discretion standard of review. *State v. Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011). Our Supreme Court has found that, "Consistent with the Castle Doctrine and the text of the Act, a valid case of self-defense must exist, and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining defendant's entitlement to the Act's immunity. This includes all the elements of self-defense, save the duty to retreat." *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C.364, 371, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013). In *State v. Grantham*, 224 S.C. 41, 45, 77 S.E.2d 291, 292 (1953), our Supreme Court found that the Castle Doctrine is "predicated on the absence of aggression or fault on the defendant's part in bringing on the difficulty..." The immunity

---

<sup>4</sup> Hereafter, Shawn.

provided by the Act, “is predicated on an accused demonstrating the elements of self-defense to the satisfaction of the trial court by the preponderance of the evidence.” *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C.364, 372, 752 S.E.2d 263, 267 (2013). The State argued *Curry, supra*, for the proposition that Petitioner was not entitled to the presumption of reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury found in §16-11-440(A) where Shawn was a person with an equal right to be in the dwelling or residence . S.C. Code Ann. §16-11-440(B). ROA p. 180, l. 24 - p. 184, l. 10. This analysis overlooks the fact that Tammy and Shawn had been told to get out of the residence. Their status as guests had been terminated. By Tammy’s own admission she had loaded their bags in the car. While §16-11-440(B) may deprive a homeowner from claiming the benefit of the presumption of reasonable fear, it would not have applied to the facts of this case where both Tammy and Shawn had been told to leave the premise. Furthermore, as emphasized in *Curry*, under the common law Castle Doctrine, the absence of a duty to retreat “does not extend to a visitor or social guest in the home of another unless ‘the attacker in an intruder.’” *Curry*, 406 S.C at 374, 752 S.E.2d at 267-268., citing *State v. Brown*, 321 S.C. 184, 467 S.E.2d 922 (1996).

Interestingly, the State also argued that Petitioner wasn’t really claiming self-defense where she said she fired a warning shot that hit the victim. It was the State’s position that Petitioner was advancing a claim of accident and not self-defense. This argument fails for a very simply reason, Petitioner did not claim she accidentally discharged the firearm. She firmly asserted that she deliberately fired a warning shot, not aiming at anyone, with the intent warn her attackers away from either jumping on her again, or jumping on her partner, Straley. She was in her room when she heard Tammy angrily cursing at her father. She stated quite plainly that she was afraid they would either, come in her room and resume beating her, or, attack Straley. The record demonstrated that Straley was in fact gravely ill and physically vulnerable. Petitioner

would respectfully argue that it makes no common sense, much less sound legal analysis, to claim that a death or injury inadvertently flowing from a warning shot, would not fall with the protections of the Act, particularly where the victim was in fact one of Petitioner's attackers.

Fortunately for Petitioner, the trial judge did not deny immunity on the ground that Petitioner was asserting accident instead of self-defense. The express ruling of the Court is limited to the finding that Petitioner was no longer in imminent danger once the physical altercation had been broken up. Petitioner most respectfully submits that this finding constituted an abuse of discretion. First, Petitioner would respectfully note that the operative question is whether a reasonably prudent person, of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the belief that they were in imminent danger, not whether she actually was. *State v. Davis*, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984). The trial court did not ever expressly find that Petitioner was not entitled to the presumption of reasonable fear found in §16-11-440(A) due to the fact that Tammy and Shawn had been guests before this incident. As previously argued, Petitioner believes that where everyone, including Tammy, acknowledged that they had been told to get out of the residence well before the shooting, §16-11-440(B) would not apply. Assuming, *arguendo*, that Petitioner was not entitled to the presumption of reasonable fear, Petitioner asserts that the evidence and testimony from this immunity hearing establishes by the preponderance of the evidence that she had a reasonable fear that either she, or her companion Straley, were in peril of grave bodily injury or death. Petitioner heard Tammy screaming and cursing at him. Petitioner's fear that Tammy, or Shawn, or both women might come after her in the bedroom was not irrational on the facts of this case. Straley was greatly debilitated with stage 4 cancer. Tammy had just inflicted a serious beating on Petitioner and she had every reason to fear that Tammy might lash out at Straley next, particularly since he had by that point backed Petitioner's wishes up and told them they needed to get out of Petitioner's home.

Petitioner had no duty to retreat from her own home, nor should she have been expected to remain in her room in fear when she had a reasonable fear that Straley was also in danger. To summarize, Petitioner bore no fault in bringing about the incident that lead to Shawn's death. Angry and resentful about being asked to leave Petitioner's home, Shawn and Tammy had been physically assaulting Petitioner at first by hitting the foot rest to her chair and deliberately causing her pain, and subsequently, when Shawn body slammed Petitioner causing her to lose her balance. There was no evidence that Petitioner laid a hand on Shawn until after she slammed into her and caused her to lose her balance. It is Petitioner's position that she grabbed Shawn's hair in a bid to grab hold of something to regain her balance. In actuality, even if she had grabbed her hair on purpose, it certainly would not have justified the beating Tammy inflicted on Petitioner; a women two decades her junior with a long list of medical problems. The unprovoked attack on Petitioner physically by Shawn, and the ferocity of the beating Petitioner subsequently received from Tammy, more than gave rise to a reasonable fear of peril. Likewise, given Tammy's hot headed and violent actions toward Petitioner, and her aggressive verbal attack on her father, Petitioner had every reason to believe Straley was in peril as well. After all, father and daughter did not have a long history of closeness, having only recently reconnected after years of estrangement, and Straley was near death from stage 4 cancer. Petitioner had already seen Straley's feeding tube ripped out while he was attempting to rescue her from Tammy. The trial court erred in failing to grant Petitioner immunity from prosecution where she demonstrated that she met the elements of self defense by the preponderance of the evidence.

**In Reply to Respondent's Brief , Petitioner submitted the following.**

#### **ISSUE PRESERVATION**

Respondent argued that Petitioner had not preserved the legal assertion that she was entitled to the presumption of "*reasonable fear of imminent peril or death or great bodily injury*

to himself or another person.” Brief of Respondent, p. 16-17. Petitioner noted that she had repeatedly testified that she was in fear for her life and that she, having already been badly beaten, was afraid they were going to come back after her. ROA p. 139, l. 1- p. 141, l. 22. She testified that while she was in her bedroom she could hear Tammy cursing at her father. Petitioner stated that she was afraid that they were going to either come in her room and jump on her again, or, that they were going to jump on Straley. Because of those fears, she armed herself before going back out of her bedroom. ROA p. 129, l. 3 - p. 130, l. 15.

Petitioner submitted that the Court had a duty to apply the appropriate law once she moved for immunity pursuant to the act. Respondent argued that Petitioner would not be entitled to the presumption because the facts in her case did not meet the requirements of S. C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440 (Supp. 2010), which Respondent acknowledged is the central provision of the act. Petitioner submitted that Respondent’s analysis on the issue was both flawed and incomplete.

Respondent argued first that Petitioner’s argument that she was entitled to the presumption that she had a reasonable fear of imminent peril under § 16-11-440 was not preserved for appellate review. Petitioner urged the Court of Appeals to rule to the contrary. Petitioner moved for immunity pursuant to the act. This was a hearing not a jury trial. The cases cited by Respondent on the question of issue preservation all dealt with jury trials in General Sessions Court. In *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 587 S.E.2d 691 (2003), this Honorable Court dealt with a pre-trial Motion to Suppress which was argued at trial purely on the general authority of both State and Federal constitutional provisions. Specifically, this Court found that *Dunbar* had not argued that the search warrant, and its supporting affidavit, failed to comply with *state statutory requirements*. *Id.*, 356 S.C. at 142-143, 587 S.E.2d at 694. In Petitioner’s case she expressly argued that she was entitled to immunity under the act.

In *State v. Freiburger*, 366 S.C. 125, 620 S.E.2d 737 (2006) the Court found *Freiburger* failed to preserve his objection to the admissibility of a pawn shop receipt and other records that indicated he had purchased a revolver where he failed to enter a timely objection to their admission. In so ruling, this Court found the following,

Freiburger next contends the trial court erred in admitting certain pawn shop records pursuant to the Ancient Documents rule and the Business Records Exception, claiming \*135 they were not properly authenticated by the state. We find this issue is not adequately preserved for review, and the record is, in any event, insufficient to enable this Court to make an intelligent review.

It appears Freiburger primarily objects to admission of the Capital Loan and Pawn receipt and records which indicate Freiburger purchased the H & R revolver on February 28, 1961. However, there is no objection to their admission during the testimony of Ms. Russ, the then 77 year old daughter of the pawn shop owner. In fact, certain exhibits were specifically entered without objection. To the extent that Freiburger did object, the objections came long after the documents had been received into evidence, most of which had been introduced into evidence without objection.

Id, 366 S.C. at 134-135, 620 S.E.2d at 742. Here, Petitioner's counsel argued at the outset of her immunity hearing that the presumption of fear of imminent serious bodily injury or death, as provided for in the act, would apply to Petitioner.

*State v. Fleming*, 254 S.C. 415, 175 S.E.2d 624 (1970), dealt with a challenge to the trial court's supplemental jury charge, in response to a jury question, in a case involving convictions for rape and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. In ruling that the appellate issues argued in *Fleming* were not preserved, this Court found that the errors argued on appeal had not been argued at trial. Specifically, the Court noted that at trial *Fleming* had argued that the trial court erred in recharging only "on the single element of force" as opposed to recharging "the entire charge on the matter of rape and what constitutes rape." As the Court ultimately found, on appeal *Fleming* argued two entirely different claims; trial court error " (1) in failing to

give a proper definition of force and justifiable fear, and (2) in his definition of force and fear he commented on the facts.” For that reason, the issues argued on appeal in *Fleming* were found not to be “preserved for consideration here by an appropriate exception ...”. Id, 254 S.C. at 421, 175 S.E.2d at 627. In the case before the Court, Petitioner’s lawyer moved for immunity under the act. While his arguments in support of that motion may not have been perfectly articulated, they nevertheless made out a claim for immunity under the act and specifically referenced her right to the presumption of fear of peril set forth in the act.

In this case, Petitioner made a Motion for Immunity pursuant to the Castle Doctrine. In arguing for a grant of immunity, Petitioner’s counsel expressly addressed the “*presumption of a reasonable fear of imminent peril*” found in § 16-11-440. ROA p. 8, l. 6 - p. 9, l. 23. As set forth in detail in the Final Brief of Appellant, at the time of the shooting in this case, Petitioner had been badly beaten, and was facing continued jeopardy at the hands of two much younger women who not only outnumbered her, but also significantly outweighed her. One of these women was known to Petitioner to have been trained in hand to hand combat. These women had been asked to leave Petitioner’s home. As she cleaned herself up after being savagely beaten, she heard Tammy cursing at her father who was dying of stage IV cancer. Petitioner testified that she feared these women were either going to “*come into my room and jump on me again or that they were going to jump on Lynn [Straley]*.” ROA p. 130, ll. 1-11.<sup>5</sup> Photographs of Petitioner introduced during the immunity hearing illustrated her injuries. See, Defense Exhibits, No. 1-8. Thus, not only did Petitioner’s counsel raise the presumption of reasonable fear of imminent peril, but Petitioner testified to her ongoing fear and presented evidence of the extent of her injuries prior to this shooting. Petitioner submits that this aspect of her argument was clearly preserved below. In addition, Petitioner would bring the Court’s attention to the fact that

---

<sup>5</sup> State’s Exhibits No. 33 and 33 B diagrams of the residence, were introduced during Petitioner’s trial. Those exhibits document that there was no door to the outside in Petitioner’s bedroom.

Respondent fails to even mention Petitioner's assertion that she was afraid not only for herself, but for her gravely ill companion who was dying from stage IV cancer. Thus, Petitioner not only asserted self-defense, but defense of others as well.

### MERITS

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