THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

APR 24 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Opinion No. 2016-UP-486 (S.C. Ct. App. filed November 23, 2016)

Appellate Case No: 2017-000549

---

State of South Carolina, ..... Respondent,

v.

Kathy Leonard Revan, ..... Petitioner.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO  
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

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

### ARGUMENT

**The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's pretrial determination that Petitioner failed to carry her burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that she was entitled to immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act where that determination had evidentiary support and was not based on an error of law.**

On appeal to the Court of Appeals, Petitioner argued the trial court erred in failing to find she was immune from prosecution under the Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-410 to -450, because she was in her residence, standing her ground against an attack while under a reasonable fear of imminent peril of great bodily injury or death. She claims the trial court abused its discretion in finding she was no longer in imminent danger once the initial physical altercation between her and Victim had been broken up. The Court of Appeals rejected this claim with reference to State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 752 S.E.2d 263 (2013) and its "finding the defendant's 'claim of self-defense present[ed] a quintessential jury question, which, must assuredly, [was] not a situation warranting immunity from prosecution' when the defendant was in a prior altercation with the victim and later retrieved a gun and shot the victim." (App.p.1-p.2).

Petitioner continues to advance essentially the same argument in her petition for a writ of certiorari and the State continues to maintain the trial court properly denied immunity. The trial court followed the appropriate procedure under rulings from this Court the Court of Appeals—holding a pretrial hearing, evaluating the credibility of the witnesses and weighing the evidence, and ultimately finding Petitioner did not carry her burden of proving she was entitled to immunity under the Act. Petitioner’s argument cannot prevail under this Court’s standard of review. As in State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 752 S.E.2d 263 (2013), Petitioner’s claim of self-defense presented a quintessential jury question, which is not a situation warranting immunity from prosecution. The trial court’s finding that Petitioner failed to carry her burden of proving she was in imminent peril at the time the fatal shot was fired has evidentiary support and is not controlled by an error of law; therefore, Petitioner’s convictions were properly affirmed by the Court of Appeals.

### **Standard of Review**

This Court reviews the trial court’s pretrial determination of immunity for an abuse of discretion. State v. Curry, 406 S.C. at 370, 752 S.E.2d at 266. In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012); State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but, instead, simply determines whether the trial judge’s ruling is supported by any evidence. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829 (emphasis added); see also State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 371, 731 S.E.2d 880, 885 (2012) (“The trial court will only be reversed when there is no evidence to support the ruling below.”). “[T]he trial court’s ruling will not be disturbed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.” State v. Sheldon, 344 S.C. 340, 342, 543

S.E.2d 585, 585-586 (Ct. App. 2001). An abuse of discretion occurs only when the trial court's conclusions lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. State v. Elders, 386 S.C. 474, 480, 688 S.E.2d 857, 861 (Ct. App. 2010); see also Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 684, 511 S.E.2d 396, 400 (Ct. App. 1999) ("In appeals of pretrial rulings, this Court is 'bound by fact findings in response to motions preliminary to trial when the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by error of law.'" (quoting State v. Amerson, 311 S.C. 316, 320, 428 S.E.2d 871, 873 (1993))).

### **The Protection of Persons and Property Act**

The subsection in the Act which creates immunity provides:

A person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article or another applicable provision of law is justified in using deadly force and is immune from criminal prosecution and civil action for the use of deadly force, unless the person against whom deadly force was used is a law enforcement officer . . . .

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450 (Supp. 2010). A claim of immunity under the Act must be determined pretrial and the defendant has the burden of proving entitlement to immunity by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011).

Consistent with the Castle Doctrine and the text of the Act, a valid case of self-defense must exist, and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining a defendant's entitlement to the Act's immunity. Curry, 406 S.C. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266. This includes each element of self-defense, save the duty to retreat. Id. at 372, 752 S.E.2d at 266-67 ("[I]mmunity is predicated on an accused demonstrating the elements of self-defense to the satisfaction of the trial court by the preponderance of the evidence.")

Section 16-11-440 of the article, which is the central provision of the Act by which a person is permitted to use deadly force, states:

(A) person is presumed to have a reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury to himself or another person when using deadly force that is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily injury to another person if the person:

(1) against whom the deadly force is used is in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering, or has unlawfully and forcibly entered a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle, or if he removes or is attempting to remove another person against his will from the dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle; and

(2) who uses deadly force knows or has reason to believe that an unlawful and forcible entry or unlawful and forcible act is occurring or has occurred.

(B) The presumption provided in subsection (A) does not apply if the person:

(1) against whom the deadly force is used has the right to be in or is a lawful resident of the dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle including, but not limited to, an owner, lessee, or titleholder; or

....

(C) A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, **if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person** or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440 (Supp. 2010) (emphasis added).

### Discussion / Analysis

Ample evidence supports the trial court's denial of immunity under the Act. Indeed, the trial court's finding that Petitioner did not meet her burden of proving "the parameters outlined in the statute" by a preponderance of the evidence is supported by evidence from the immunity hearing, both in regard to the trial court's specific finding of Petitioner was not in imminent danger, as well as several alternative grounds on which immunity was properly denied. The trial court carefully considered the conflicting testimony from Morrigan and Petitioner, necessarily assessed their credibility, and concluded Petitioner was not in imminent danger when she fired

the fatal shot. Therefore, the trial court's denial of immunity under the Act was not an error of law. The case was properly submitted to the jury, with the claim of self-defense being fully presented, and the State having to disprove at least one element of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial judge's pretrial immunity ruling must be affirmed.

In her brief on appeal to the Court of Appeals and now in her Petition, Petitioner first argues the trial court should have presumed she had a reasonable fear of imminent peril under subsection (A) of the Act. (Brief of Appellant, p.25; Petition, p.20-21). However, this argument is not preserved for appellate review because it was not specifically raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003). If an error is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial court, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005). Indeed, the appellate court will not consider any issues that were not presented to or passed upon by the trial court. State v. Fleming, 254 S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970). Here, although Petitioner summarized the provisions of the Act (R.p.7-p.12), and later argued the court could review the shooting as a case where Petitioner was trying to eject trespassers from her property, Petitioner never actually claimed or argued she was entitled to the presumption of "reasonable fear of imminent peril or death or great bodily injury to himself or another person" described in subsection (A). (R.p.171-p.180). Similarly, when denying immunity the trial court did not expressly find Petitioner was not entitled to the presumption of reasonable fear found in subsection (A). (R.p.184, line 11-p.185, line 6). Petitioner acknowledges the absence of such a ruling in her brief. (Brief of Appellant, p.26). Because the statutory presumption was neither raised to nor ruled upon the trial court, it is not a proper subject of appellate review. Similarly, it

is not preserved for review by this Court because it was not ruled upon by the Court of Appeals. Petitioner acknowledges the absence of such ruling in her Petition for Certiorari. (Petition, p.20).

Nevertheless, even if preserved, this argument fails on its merits for two reasons. First, subsection (B) specifically provides the presumption in subsection (A) does not apply if the person against whom the deadly force is used had a right to be in or is a lawful resident of the dwelling or residence. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(B) (Supp. 2010). “Residence” is defined in the Act as “a dwelling in which a person resides either temporarily or permanently or is visiting as an invited guest.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-430 (Supp. 2010). The evidence in the record clearly demonstrates Victim was temporarily residing in the house with Petitioner and Straley. Morrigan testified they had been living there for several weeks before the incident and helped support the household by purchasing food and working around the house. (R.p.52). Petitioner herself acknowledged she gave permission for Morrigan and Victim to stay at her house to visit Straley as long as possible before he died. (R.p.105). Because Victim was a resident of the dwelling, Petitioner was simply not entitled to the presumption of reasonable fear in subsection (A).

Petitioner claims this analysis overlooks the fact that Victim and Morrigan had been told to get out of the residence and argues “their status as guests had been terminated” and, therefore, the presumption should still apply. (Brief of Appellant, p.25). The State disagrees. Even though the definition of “residence” encompasses invited guests, Victim and Morrigan were more than invited guests. By contributing to the household and living there for an extended period of time, they were temporary residents, and Petitioner’s attempt to downgrade their status to mere guests should be disregarded. In any event, the State submits a person’s status as a resident cannot be terminated instantaneously. Here, Victim and Morrigan were in the process of moving their

belongings to the car in order to comply with Petitioner's request that they leave. Petitioner admitted she got up from her chair to help them carry things out, not to eject them. (R.p.124). Victim's status as a resident was still in effect when the shooting took place; therefore, Petitioner was not entitled to the statutory presumption.

Second, and more importantly, the presumption in subsection (A) only applies if the person against whom the deadly force is used is in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering, or has unlawfully and forcibly entered a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle, or is removing or attempting to remove another person against his will from the dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440 (A)(1) (Supp. 2010). Absolutely no evidence was presented during the immunity hearing to suggest this was what was happening. Petitioner never alleged Victim was unlawfully and forcefully entering the house; rather, everyone agreed Victim was already in the house when the initial altercation and the subsequent shooting occurred. Petitioner also never alleged Victim was trying to remove another person from the house against his or her will. Therefore, even if this Court determines Victim's status as a guest was terminated the moment Petitioner asked her to leave the residence, Petitioner was still not entitled to the statutory presumption.

Also in her brief to the Court of Appeals, Petitioner challenged the State's argument at trial that she was not entitled to a claim of immunity because she was advancing a defense of accident rather than self-defense. She insisted she was indeed pursuing a claim of self-defense and could seek immunity under the Act because she never claimed to have accidentally discharged the firearm, and instead claimed she intended to fire a warning shot, not aiming at anyone, with the intent to warn her attackers away. Petitioner argued it makes no common sense to claim that a death or injury inadvertently flowing from a warning shot would not fall under the

protections of the Act. (Brief of Appellant, p.25-p.26). As with her argument about the statutory presumption in subsection (A), this argument is also not preserved for appellate review because it was never ruled upon by the trial court. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 693-94 (2003). Although both parties made arguments to the trial court about the State's contention that the Act should not apply where Petitioner did not intend to shoot anybody, the trial court's ruling never addressed this argument, and instead applied the terms of the Act and found Petitioner had not proven she was not entitled to immunity. (R.p.184, line 11-p.185, line 6). Thus, this issue is not preserved for appellate review.

If this Court finds the issue is preserved, the State maintains the factual scenario set forth by Petitioner nevertheless precludes a finding of immunity under the Act. There is quite a difference between someone who: (1) intentionally attempts to shoot an attacker but accidentally shoots another person instead and (2) someone who fires a warning shot with no intent to shoot an attacker, and that warning shot hits another person. Both scenarios could be described as accidental; however, the intent behind the shot is critical in the context of a person who "has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) (Supp. 2010). The immunity provision itself grants immunity to "[a] person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article . . . ." A person firing a warning shot has no intent to use deadly force against an attacker. Indeed, they have the opposite intent—trying to **not** use deadly force. Thus, a person who intentionally fires a warning shot should never qualify for immunity under the Act, and the trial court properly denied Petitioner's request.

Finally, Petitioner challenged the trial court's ruling that she was not in imminent danger when the fatal shot was fired. (Brief of Appellant, p.26-p.28). Petitioner first contended it was

“undisputed” that she had a reasonable fear of imminent peril. (Brief of Appellant, p.6).

However, her actions following the initial altercation and her statement to the police suggest otherwise. According to Morrigan, a minute or two after the initial fight, as she was helping Victim up from the floor, Petitioner appeared in the doorway with a gun, pointed the gun to the side and pulled the trigger. (R.p.63). Petitioner then turned the gun on Morrigan, who grabbed it and forced the second shot into the ceiling. (R.p.63). Later that night, when Petitioner was giving a statement to police, she said she retrieved the gun from her bedroom before shooting Victim so she could “show them I mean business.” (State’s Exhibit #9: DVD Statement, Part 1). Thus, rather than being undisputed, this evidence contradicts Petitioner’s self-serving testimony that she was in fear of imminent peril from Victim and Morrigan.

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